#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHELLE FLORES, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Appellant,

v.

LAS VEGAS-CLARK COUNTY LIBRARY DISTRICT, A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Respondent.

Supreme Court No: 72462

lectronically Filed

District Court No Sep. 01, 2017 03:39 p.m.

Clerk of Supreme Court

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DATED this 1st day of September, 2017.

ASHCRAFT & BARR | LLP

/s/ Jeffrey F. Barr
JEFFREY F. BARR, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 7269
barrj@AshcraftBarr.com
2300 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 900
Las Vegas, NV 89102
Telephone: (702) 631.7555

LEE I. IGLODY, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 7757
lee@iglody.com
Iglody Law, PLLC
2300 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 900

### IV. Jurisdictional Statement

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) in that this is a timely appeal of the stipulated final order of the District Court (incorporating a previous Decision and Order of the District Court granting partial summary judgment).

The District Court issued its Order that was dispositive of all claims on February 8, 2017. The Notice of Entry of Order was timely served on February 9, 2017, and the Notice of Appeal was timely filed and served on February 17, 2017. Appellant Michelle Flores ("Ms. Flores") was the plaintiff below who was aggrieved by the Order. Accordingly, this Court has appellate jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

## V. Routing Statement

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because the principal issues are (1) a question of first impression involving the Nevada Constitution and common law; and (2) a question of statewide public importance under NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14).

Resolution of this case requires the Court to interpret a local library district's policy regulating the possession of firearms in light of (a) a 2015 statute imposing statewide regulation over the possession of firearms which prohibits local jurisdictions from enacting such policies; (b) Article 1, §11 of the Nevada

Constitution; (c) other Nevada statutes; and (d) a common-law doctrine called, "Dillon's Rule."

#### VI. Statement of Issues Presented for Review

Does a local library district's regulation of the possession of firearms violate SB 175 (2015), as codified in NRS 244.364, NRS 268.418, and NRS 269.222 by 2015 Nev. Stat. ch. 328, §§8(1), 9(1), and 10(1) at 1784, 1787, and 1789, where such law (1) definitively establishes "state control" over the regulation of firearms to ensure "uniform" policies and regulations "throughout the State"; (2) further mandates that such "state control" is the "exclusive domain of the Legislature"; (3) then declares that "any other law, regulation, rule or ordinance to the contrary is null and void"; and (4) expressly instructs the courts: "This section must be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose"?

In this Opening Brief, Appellant Michelle Flores respectfully seeks the following relief: (1) that the Court reverse the District Court's judgment upholding the policy of Respondent Clark County-Las Vegas Library District's regulating the possession of firearms; (2) that the Court declare that firearms policy illegal; and (3) that the Court direct the entry of an order enjoining the Library District's enforcement of its firearms policy.

### VII. Statement of the Case

This is an Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Case Number A-16-735496-C of a stipulated final judgment of the District Court against Appellant Michelle Flores and in favor of the Respondent Clark County-Las Vegas Library District in which the District Court upheld the validity of a library district's policy regulating the possession of firearms in derogation of the Legislature's mandate to the contrary.

### VIII. Statement of the Facts Relevant to the Issues

Plaintiff/Appellant Michelle Flores ("Ms. Flores") is a citizen of the State of Nevada. [JA 3.]

Michelle is lawfully entitled to possess a firearm in Nevada. [JA 3.]

In 2015, the Legislature passed SB 175 (2015), as codified in NRS 244.364, NRS 268.418, and NRS 269.222 by 2015 Nev. Stat. ch. 328, §§8(1), 9(1), and 10(1) at 1784, 1787, and 1789 (collectively, "SB 175"). Sections 8(1), 9(1), and 10(1) of SB 175 recite, in relevant part, the following:

- (a) The purpose of this section is <u>to establish state control over</u> the regulation of and policies concerning firearms...to ensure that such regulation and policies are uniform throughout this State....
- (b) The regulation of the...possession [and] carrying...of firearms...in this State and the ability to define such terms is within the <u>exclusive domain of the Legislature</u>, and any other law, regulation, rule, or ordinance to the contrary is null and void.

(c) This section must be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose. (Emphasis added.) [JA 127-128.]<sup>1</sup>

Clark County and the City of Las Vegas formed the Las Vegas-Clark County Library District (the "Library District") pursuant to NRS 379.0221. [JA 56:6-7.]

The Library District promulgates a policy called the Dangerous Items Policy (the "DIP Rule"). [JA 56:19-21.]

The DIP Rule regulates the possession of firearms by prohibiting the carrying of an open, holstered firearm in Library District facilities. [JA 56:19-21.]

The Library District applied and enforced the DIP Rule against Ms. Flores.

[JA 58:3-19.]

# IX. Summary of the Argument

SB 175 prohibits the Library District from adopting and enforcing the DIP Rule. Here, the District Court erroneously upheld the DIP Rule. This is an error for at least three reasons:

(A) **The Plain Meaning Analysis**. With unambiguous language in SB 175, the Legislature declared its complete control of the regulation of firearms in Nevada to the exclusion of all other political subdivisions, prospectively prohibiting local governments from enacting their own rules and retrospectively repealing all local government's rules to the contrary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The language of Sections 8(1), 9(1), and 10(1) of SB 175 is identical. [JA 127-28; 131; and 134-35.]

- (B) **The Preemption Analysis**. The comprehensive, exhaustive, constitutional and statutory scheme regulating firearms in Nevada preempts the DIP Rule.
- (C) **The Dillon's Rule Analysis**. The Legislature did not grant the Library District any specific authority to regulate firearms; neither the Library District nor the courts may imply such power under a long-standing rule in Nevada called, "Dillon's Rule."

# X. Argument

Statutory construction is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*, and as a consequence, this Court gives no deference to the District Court's interpretation. *Carson City DA v. Ryder*, 116 Nev. 502, 504-05, 998 P.2d 1186, 1188 (2000). Resolution of this appeal requires the Court to interpret SB 175 in light of the DIP Rule.

The DIP Rule attempts to regulate the possession of firearms in derogation of SB 175's express and unambiguous language to the contrary. Thus, the District Court erred when it found that "the three statutes amended by SB 175...do not preclude the Library District from implementing and enforcing the [DIP Rule]." [JA \_301:7-10.] The District Court also erred when it held that "NRS 244.364, NRS 268.418, and NRS 268.222, by their express terms, do not apply to a public library district." [JA 300:8-9.]

The trial court's interpretation of SB 175 is thus entitled to no deference in this Court's *de novo* review for the following three reasons: (A) the plain meaning of SB 175 prohibits the DIP Rule; (B) even ignoring the unambiguous language of SB 175, Nevada law preempts local regulation of firearms; and (C) Dillon's Rule precludes the DIP Rule. Therefore, the Court should reverse the District Court's Decision and Order and remand the case to the District Court with instructions to enter judgment in favor of Ms. Flores and to enjoin enforcement of the DIP Rule.

# A. The Plain Meaning Analysis: SB 175 Explicitly Prohibits the DIP Rule

The plain language of SB 175 expressly prohibits the Library District from regulating the possession of firearms. For the reasons detailed below, the Library District's reading of SB 175 (as adopted by the District Court) cannot withstand a Plain Meaning Analysis for two reasons: (1) it violates the plain meaning of SB 175 and the express intent of the Legislature; and (2) it implies an exception to SB 175 in direct opposition to that expressed legislative intent.

# (1) The DIP Rule Contravenes the Explicit Words of SB 175

"When a statute's language is unambiguous, this court does not resort to the rules of construction and will give that language its plain meaning." *Slade v. Caesars Entertainm't Corp.*, 132 Nev. Ad. Op. 36, 373 P.3d 74, 76 (2016). The courts must presume that "a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there." *RTTC Communications, LLC v. The Saratoga Flier*,

*Inc.*, 121 Nev. 34, 37, 110 P.3d 24, 26 (2005) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Thus, "when the language of a statute is plain, its intention must be deduced from such language, and the Court has no right to go beyond it, and where the language of a statute is susceptible of a sensible interpretation, it is not to be controlled by any extraneous considerations." *Id*.

Here, the unambiguous words of SB 175 prohibit the DIP Rule in at least four instances as detailed below, and this Court should reverse the District Court's Order and remand the case to the District Court with instructions to enter judgment in favor of Ms. Flores.

(a) The DIP Rule Is Inconsistent With "Uniform" Regulation of Firearms Mandated By Section 8(1)(a) of SB 175

To ensure "uniform" regulation of firearms "throughout this State," Section 8(1)(a) of SB 175 empowers the Legislature to establish "state control" over these regulations and policies, providing in relevant part: "The Legislature hereby declares that [t]he purpose of this section is to establish <u>state control</u> over the regulation of and policies concerning firearms...to ensure that <u>such regulation and policies are uniform throughout this State....</u>" (Emphasis added.) [JA 127.]

A "uniform" state regulation or policy is one that has operates equally or the same throughout the state under similar circumstances. *See State v. Cal. Mining Co.*, 15 Nev. 234, 251 (1880). Put differently, where a statute requires a "uniform" application throughout the State, an individualized, jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction

standard is not permissible. *See State Board of Equalization v. Bakst*, 122 Nev. 1403, 1416, 148 P.3d 717, 726 (2006) (holding that statute requiring "uniform" property tax appraisal standards did not permit multiple, county-by-county methodologies).

Nevada has 22 separate, individual, public library systems throughout the State.<sup>2</sup> If the DIP Rule is upheld, each of these twenty-two, individual library districts may regulate the possession of firearms. Like *Bakst*, the individualized jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction standard contemplated by the District Court's ruling in this case completely vitiates the Legislature's express intent to establish a "uniform" regulation of firearms "throughout the State." It renders the term "uniform" meaningless and negates the plain language of the statute. Simply put, library districts cannot establish their own rules relating to the possession of firearms in derogation of the Legislature's demand that such rules be "uniform." Therefore, the DIP Rule is invalid, and the Court should reverse the District Court's order.

(b) The DIP Rule Invades the "Exclusive Domain" of the Legislature

Section 8(1)(b) of SB 175 also mandates that regulation of firearms is sole province of the Legislature, declaring, "The regulation of the transfer, sale, purchase,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See <a href="http://nsla.nv.gov/Development/NVLibraryDirectory/">http://nsla.nv.gov/Development/NVLibraryDirectory/</a> (retrieved on August 25, 2017). Pursuant to NRS 47.130 and NRS 47.150, Ms. Flores requests that the Court take judicial notice of the number of public library systems in Nevada. See e.g., Daniels-Hall v. Nat'l Educ. Ass'n, 629 F.3d 992, 998-99 (9th Cir. 2010) (holding that courts may take judicial notice of information on government websites).

possession, carrying, ownership, transportation, storage, registration and licensing of firearms, firearm accessories and ammunition in this State and the ability to define such terms is within the exclusive domain of the Legislature...." (Emphasis added.)

[JA 128.]

The term, "exclusive," means "singular or sole, not admitting of something else." *See* <a href="http://www.dictionary.com/browse/exclusive?s=t">http://www.dictionary.com/browse/exclusive?s=t</a> (Retrieved on August 25, 2017)<sup>3</sup>; *see e.g.*, *Ramsey v. City of North Las Vegas*, 133 Nev. Ad. Op. 16, 392 P.3d 614, 616 (2017) (judicial discipline commission was "exclusive" method to remove judge from office, foreclosing all other previously enacted methods) and *In re Estate of McKay*, 43 Nev. 114, 127, 184 P. 305, 309 (1919) (holding that policy, wisdom, or expediency of a law is within the "exclusive theater" of legislature, rendering it a "forbidden sphere" for judiciary). The term, "domain," means the "territory over which sovereignty is exercised." *Black's Law Dictionary* 557 (9th ed. 2009).

By declaring that the regulation of firearms is "within the exclusive domain of the Legislature," the Legislature plainly meant that such regulation was singularly (and to the exclusion of all others) within the sovereignty of the Legislature. The use of the words "exclusive domain" forecloses all other inferior jurisdictions from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Court routinely looks to dictionaries to ascertain the plain meaning of statutory language. *E.g.*, *LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc.*, 131 Nev. Ad. Op. 10, 343 P.3d 608, 612 (2015).

any similar exercise of legislative power.<sup>4</sup> The plain language of Section 8(1)(b) of SB 175 flatly contradicts the District Court's conclusion that a library district possesses any authority to govern the carrying of firearms. The Court should reverse the erroneous legal conclusion of the District Court.

(c) The DIP Rule Is "Null and Void" Per Section 8(1)(b) of SB 175

The second-half of Section 8(1)(b) retrospectively repeals and invalidates any local government's enactment contrary to SB 175, stating, "any other law, regulation, rule or ordinance to the contrary is <u>null and void</u>." (Emphasis added.)

[JA 128.]

The Legislature may enlarge, modify, diminish, or set aside the acts of one of its political subdivisions without the political subdivision's consent. *Tonopah Sewer & Drainage Co. v. Nye County*, 50 Nev. 173, 177, 254 P.696, 697 (1927). The phrase, "null and void," means "of no legal effect." *See Dobson v. Dobson*, 108 Nev. 346, 350, 830 P.2d 1336, 1339 (1992) (Steffen, J., dissenting).

Section 8(1)(b) repeals all rules regulating firearms contrary to SB 175 by declaring such rules to be "null and void." [JA 128.] The DIP Rule is one such rule abrogated by SB 175. The DIP Rule is of no legal effect as of the passage of SB

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This Court has long-recognized that the Legislature possesses plenary legislative power, constrained only by the federal and state constitutions. *See Gibson v. Mason*, 5 Nev. 283, 292 (1869).

175. Put simply, the Legislature repealed it. Therefore, the District Court erred by upholding the DIP Rule, and the Court should reverse this judgment.

(d) SB 175 Must Be Liberally Construed As Required By Section 8(1)(c)

Section 8(1) instructs the courts: "This section must be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose." Section 8(1)(c), SB 175. [JA 128.]

"Liberally construing" a statute means to interpret that statute broadly, "so that its evident purpose and the reason for its enactment may be given full effect." *Standard Slag Co. v. Fifth Judicial Dist. Ct.*, 62 Nev. 113, 118, 143 P.2d 467, 469 (1943). "Liberal construction is ordinarily one which makes a statute apply to more things or in more situations than would be the case under strict construction." *Bd. of Educ. v. Ill. St. Bd. of Educ.*, 740 N.E.2d 428, 433 (Ill. Ct. App. 2000) (internal citations and quotations omitted). It means "giving the language of a statutory provision, freely and consciously, its commonly, generally accepted meaning, to the end that the most comprehensive application thereof may be accorded, without doing violence to any of its terms." *Id.* 

Here, a strict reading of Section 8(1) of SB 175 prohibits the DIP Rule. With even more convincing force then, a broad, expansive, and liberal construction of SB 175 likewise prohibits the DIP Rule. The full effect of SB 175 is the Legislature's complete and plenary regulation of the possession of firearms, to the exclusion of all other local government's laws and rules. Because the District Court failed to

construe SB 175 liberally in contravention the explicit instruction of the Legislature, this Court should reverse the District Court's Decision and Order.

# (2) The DIP Rule Violates the Express Intent of the Legislature

The DIP Rule also contravenes the express will of the Legislature. Where the Legislature deliberately declares its intent and a statute's purpose within the legislation, the courts must consider that purpose as a factor in interpreting the legislation. *Alper v. State*, 96 Nev. 925, 928, 621 P.2d 492, 494 (1980). A court cannot imply an exception to a statute when such an implied exception would be in direct opposition to the expressed legislative intent. *McKay v. Board of County Comm'rs*, 103 Nev. 490, 492, 746 P.2d 124, 125 (1987).

In *McKay*, this Court reversed the district court's judgment which held that there was an implied attorney-client privilege exception to Nevada's Open Meeting Law despite the Legislature's explicit requirement that all public meetings be open, "except as otherwise specifically provided by statute." *Id.* In overruling the district court, the *McKay* Court held, "[I]t is not the business of this court to fill in alleged legislative omissions based on conjecture as to what the legislature would or should have done. \* \* \* To imply an exception in the face of this straightforward language would be in direct opposition to the expressed legislative intent." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Legislature has since amended the law to specifically provide for an attorney-client exception to the Open Meeting Law. NRS 241.015(3)(b)(2).

Like the errant trial court in *McKay*, the District Court's ruling untenably reads an implied exception into the expressed legislative intent of SB 175. Specifically, under the District Court's interpretation, the regulation of firearms is "uniform throughout the State," *except for library districts*; the regulation of firearms is the "exclusive domain of the Legislature," *except for library districts*; and "any other law, regulation, rule or ordinance to the contrary is null and void," *except for rules like the DIP Rule promulgated by library districts*. In the face of the straightforward language in SB 175, implying an exception for library districts is simply impermissible and violates the deliberate intent of the Legislature. Like the *McKay* Court, this Court should likewise reverse the Order of the District Court.

### B. The Preemption Analysis: Nevada Law Preempts the DIP Rule

Preemption occurs when a state law supersedes a conflicting local law or rule. See Lamb v. Mirin, 90 Nev. 329, 332-33, 526 P.2d 80, 82 (1974).

Plainly put, Nevada law preempts the DIP Rule. The Legislature can preempt a local rule in three ways: (1) Express Preemption; (2) Conflict Preemption; or (3) Field Preemption. Here, under any iteration of the doctrine, the Legislature has preempted all local firearms regulations, including the DIP Rule. Therefore, the District Court's Order is in error, and the Court should reverse the Decision.

## (1) SB 175 Expressly Preempts the DIP Rule

Express preemption occurs when the Legislature expresses its intent to preempt local regulation by including explicit language in the statute. *See Pacificare of Nev., Inc. v. Rogers*, 127 Nev. 799, 800, 266 P.3d 596, 600 (2011) (discussing federal preemption). Here, SB 175 expressly preempts the DIP Rule because the plain language of SB 175 demonstrates the Legislature's unambiguous intent to preempt the DIP Rule.

The plain language of a statute provides the best evidence of the Legislature's preemptive intent. *Id.*; *see also*, *Chan v. City of Seattle*, 265 P.3d 169, 175 (Wash. Ct. App. 2011) (plain meaning of state firearms statute governs legislature's preemptive intent).

In *Chan*, for example, the City of Seattle Parks Department enacted a rule banning all firearms from city parks in derogation of Washington state law. *Chan*, 265 P.3d at 174. The trial court granted plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and issued an injunction, enjoining enforcement of the rule; the appellate court affirmed. *Id.* at 171. The state law at issue in *Chan* was broad and stripped local governments of authority to regulate firearms, stating, in part, "The state of Washington hereby fully occupies and preempts the entire field of firearms regulation within the boundaries of the state, including the...possession...of firearms.... Local laws and ordinances that are inconsistent with, more restrictive

than, or exceed the requirements of state law shall not be enacted and are preempted and repealed." *Id.* at 175 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

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