#### Case No. 72462

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jan 17 2018 11:06 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

## MICHELLE FLORES, an individual, Appellant,

VS.

# LAS VEGAS-CLARK COUNTY LIBRARY DISTRICT, a Political Subdivision of the State of Nevada, Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada Judge Stephanie Miley, Case No. A-16-735496-C

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Dennis L. Kennedy
Nevada Bar No. 1462
Kelly B. Stout
Nevada Bar No. 12105
BAILEY \*KENNEDY
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148-1302
Telephone: 702.562.8820
Facsimile: 702.562.8821
DKennedy@BaileyKennedy.com
KStout@BaileyKennedy.com

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

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is evident from the plain language of NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222 that the Legislature intended their preemptive effect be limited to the three specific types of political subdivisions identified in each of the three statutes: counties, cities, and towns. Accordingly, Ms. Flores' attempt to use the legislative statement of intent and purpose in Section 1 of each statute fails

L	because an introductory legislative statement does after the plain
2	unambiguous terms of a statute's operative provisions.

Likewise, Ms. Flores' argument that Dillon's Rule prohibits the

Dangerous Items Policy also fails. Under Dillon's rule, local governments

may exercise "[t]hose powers granted in express terms by the Nevada

Constitution or statute; . . . [t]hose powers necessarily or fairly implied in or

incident to the powers expressly granted; and . . .[t]hose powers essential to

the accomplishment of the declared objects and purposes of the [entity] and

not merely convenient but indispensable." NRS 244.137(3), 268.001(3).

Nevada law contains no legal authority to support the proposition that "Dillon's Rule" applies to a Library District. However, even if applicable to special districts, Dillon's rule does not prevent the Library District from adopting and enforcing its Dangerous Items Policy. The legislature granted the Library District's governing body broad authority to "[e]stablish bylaws and regulations for the management of the library and their own management" and "[d]o all acts necessary for the orderly and efficient management and control of the library." NRS 379.025(1)(h), (2)(d). Thus, the Library District is authorized to regulate the possession of firearms on its property because

that regulation is necessary to the "orderly and efficient management and control of the library." NRS 379.025(2)(d).

Consequently, the District Court's Decision and Order must be affirmed.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

In this case, the Parties agree that this appeal involves the pure legal question of statutory interpretation, which is reviewed de novo. *Pressler v. City of Reno*, 118 Nev. 506, 509, 50 P.3d 1096, 1098 (2002) ("[a]ny questions of law are also reviewed de novo."); *Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 278 P.3d 501(2012) ("Questions of statutory construction, including the meaning and scope of a statute, are questions of law, which this court reviews de novo.") (quoting *City of Reno v. Reno Gazette–Journal*, 119 Nev. 55, 58, 63 P.3d 1147, 1148 (2003)).

# B. The Dangerous Items Policy is Not Preempted by NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222

Ms. Flores argues that the plain language of NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222 expressly preempts the Library District from adopting any rule

1	relating to the possession of firearms on its property, when, in fact, the plain
2	language makes it clear that the legislature's intent was to limit the preemptive
3	effect to three (and only three) specific types of political subdivisions—
4	counties, cities, and towns.
5	4 TH DI I I CNDC 244 274 270 440 1270 222
6	1. The Plain Language of NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222 Limits Their Application to Cities, Counties, and Towns
7	"If the Legislature's intention is apparent from the face of the statute,
8	there is no room for construction, and this court will give the statute its plain
9	meaning." Clark Cnty. v. S. Nev. Health Dist., 128 Nev. 651, 656, 289 P.3d
10	212, 215 (2012) (citing <i>Madera v. SIIS</i> , 114 Nev. 253, 257, 956 P.2d 117, 120
11	(1998)). See also Justin v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cnty. of Washoe, 132
12	Nev. Adv. Op. 47, *3, 373 P.3d 869, 872 (2016) ("When the plain language of
13	a statute establishes the Legislature's intent, [the Court] 'will give effect to
14	such intention.") (quoting We the People Nev. v. Miller, 124 Nev. 874, 881,
15	192 P.3d 1166, 1170–71 (2008).
16	"If possible, legislative intent should be determined by looking at the
17	act itself." List v. Whisler, 99 Nev. 133, 138–39, 660 P.2d 104, 107 (1983).
18	///

14	a. A Statute's Meaning Is Limited By Its Defined Terms				
13					
12	121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005)).				
11	or make a provision nugatory." (quoting S. Nev. Homebuilders v. Clark Cnty.				
10	as to read them in a way that would not render words or phrases superfluous				
9	statute's] terms their plain meaning, considering its provisions as a whole so				
8	Melton, 128 Nev. 34, 43, 272 P.3d 668, 674 (2012) (the court "must give [a				
7	language because such acts are the Legislature's function."); In re Estate of				
6	this duty does not include expanding upon or modifying the statutory				
5	302 P.3d 1144, 1147 (2013) ("Our duty is to interpret the statute's language;				
4	plain language. See Williams v. United Parcel Servs., 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 41				
3	ambiguity, the Court will proceed to interpret the statute based only on the				
2	Quinn, 117 Nev. 709, 713, 30 P.3d 1117, 1120 (2001). If there is no				
1	Therefore, this Court first determines if there is any ambiguity. 6 State v.				

"A statute's express definition of a term controls the construction of that term no matter where the term appears in the statute." Nev. Pub. Emps.

<sup>&</sup>quot;[I]f the statutory language is capable of more than one meaning, it is ambiguous and the plain meaning rule is inapplicable and the drafter's intent controls." Stockmeier v. Psych. Review Panel, 122 Nev. 534, 540, 135 P.3d 807, 810 (2006).

SAILEY * KENNEDY	8984 SPANISH RIDGE AVENUE	LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89148-1302	702.562.8820	
BAII	8984	LAS V		

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

Ret. Bd. v. Smith, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 65, 310 P.3d 560, 566 (2013) (citing Williams v. Clark Cnty. Dist. Atty, 118 Nev. 473, 485, 50 P.3d 536, 544 (2002)). See also Dep't of Bus. & Indus. v. Check City, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 90, 337 P.3d 755, 758 (2014) ("the statutory definition must govern"). The Library District is a political subdivision. NRS 379.142.<sup>7</sup> Each of the three statutes at issue defines a "political subdivision" to "include, without limitation, a state agency, county, city, town or school district." NRS 244.364(9)(e); 268.418(9)(e); 269.222(9)(e). The Library District, a city, a town, and a county, are all separate and distinct types of political subdivisions, which are created by statute. Had the Legislature meant for the prohibitions in NRS 244.364, NRS 268.418, and NRS 269.222 to apply more broadly, it could have (and would have) chosen different language. The Legislature could have stated that "no *political subdivision* may infringe upon those rights and powers" or "no governmental entity may infringe upon those rights and powers" or "no local government<sup>8</sup> may infringe upon those rights and JA3 at ¶ 12 ("The District is a political subdivision of the State of Nevada."). "Local government' means every political subdivision or other entity which has the right to levy or receive money from ad valorem or other taxes or any mandatory assessments, and includes, without limitation, counties, cities, 16

powers" or "no <i>public body</i> may infringe upon those rights and powers." It
did not say any of those things; instead, it said city, county, or town.
"Nevada follows the maxim 'expressio unius est exclusio alterius,' the
expression of one thing is the exclusion of another." State v. Javier C., 128
Nev. 536, 541, 289 P.3d 1194, 1197 (2012) (citing Cramer v. State, 126 Nev.
388, 394, 240 P.3d 8, 12 (2010)). Therefore, the use of a defined term
excludes anything beyond the scope of the definition. Consequently, each of
the three statutes must be interpreted to apply only to the specific type of
political subdivision specified within the statute.
///
///
///
towns, boards, school districts and other districts organized pursuant to chapters 244A, 309, 318 and 379 of NRS, NRS 450.550 to 450.750, inclusive, and chapters 474, 541, 543 and 555 of NRS, and any agency or department of a county or city which prepares a budget separate from that of the parent political subdivision." NRS 354.474(1)(a).
""Public body' means the State of Nevada, or any agency, instrumentality, or corporation thereof, or any municipality, school district, other type district, or any other subdivision of the State, excluding the Federal Government." NRS 271 185

2

3

4

5

6

7

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

#### b. NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222 Must Be Interpreted in Harmony with the Larger Statutory Scheme

This Court's inquiry into the plain meaning requires that it examine the language of the individual statutes within the context of their chapter, title, and the NRS as a whole. Karcher Firestopping v. Meadow Valley Contractors, Inc., 125 Nev. 111, 113, 204 P.3d 1262, 1263 (2009) ("Plain meaning may be ascertained by examining the context and language of the statute as a whole."). Therefore, "it is the duty of [the] court, when possible, to interpret provisions within a common statutory scheme 'harmoniously with one another in accordance with the general purpose of those statutes' and to avoid unreasonable or absurd results, thereby giving effect to the Legislature's intent." Torrealba v. Kesmetis, 124 Nev. 95, 101, 178 P.3d 716, 721 (2008) (quoting S. Nev. Homebuilders v. Clark Cnty., 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005)). Likewise, "provisions within a statute must be interpreted harmoniously with one another in accordance with the general purpose of [the] statute[] and should not be read to produce unreasonable or absurd results." State v. Harris, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 56, 355 P.3d 791, 792 (2015) (quoting Washington v. State, 117 Nev. 735, 739, 30 P.3d 1134, 1136 (2001).

820		
8.7		
702.5		

Statutory interpretation must consider the statute and statutory scheme
"as a whole so as to read them in a way that would not render words or
phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory." Manuela H. v. Eighth
Jud. Dist. Ct., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 1, 365 P.3d 497, 501 (2016); see also
Stockmeier v. Psych. Review Panel, 122 Nev. 534, 540, 135 P.3d 807, 810
(2006) ("We should interpret statutes to give meaning to each of their parts,
such that, when read in context, none of the statutory language is rendered
mere surplusage.").

Like school districts, water districts, and other special districts, the Library District is a "special district, <sup>10</sup>" which is formed by statute. Created by Chapter 379 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, the Library District is part of a special district—a form of "local government" created by the Legislature. NRS 354.474(1)(a). Library districts are separate and distinct entities from the county, town, and/or city that they serve. In fact, counties, cities, and

<sup>&</sup>quot;"Special district' means a governmental entity that receives any portion of the proceeds of a tax which is included in the Account and which is not:

<sup>17 1.</sup> A county;

<sup>2.</sup> A city;

<sup>3.</sup> A town; or

<sup>4.</sup> An enterprise district." NRS 360.650.

1	towns are specifically excluded from the definition of special districts. NRS
2	360.650.
3	"When the legislature enacts a statute, this court presumes that it does
4	so 'with full knowledge of existing statutes relating to the same subject.'"
5	Nev. Power Co. v. Haggerty, 115 Nev. 353, 364, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (1999).
6	Therefore, the Legislature's decision to amend the existing statutes—and only
7	the existing statutes—demonstrates its intent to limit those amendments to
8	counties, cities, and towns. Had the Legislature intended to preempt
9	rulemaking by all political subdivisions, it could have done so by inserting the
10	language into a chapter of general application. For example, the Legislature
11	could have rescinded NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222 and added a single
12	statute to Chapter 202, which already contains the provisions governing the
13	concealed carrying of firearms, or Chapter 237, which includes miscellaneous
14	provisions applicable to governmental entities.
15	When considering the statutory scheme as a whole, the chapter in which
16	the statute is located is relevant to its interpretation. MGM Mirage v. Nev. Ins

When considering the statutory scheme as a whole, the chapter in which the statute is located is relevant to its interpretation. *MGM Mirage v. Nev. Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 125 Nev. 223, 231, 209 P.3d 766, 771 (2009) ("The only definition of 'insurer' that includes self-insured employers is found in

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

Nevada's Workers' Compensation Act under NRS 616A.270. Nevada's workers' compensation laws are located in a separate title, not the insurance title. . . . Thus, we conclude that the Legislature's substantial use of 'insurer' to describe persons or entities in the business of insurance militates in favor of concluding that the NIGA Act's reference to 'insurer' plainly addresses an insurance company."). See also Studer v. Studer, 320 Conn. 483, 493-94, 131 A.3d 240, 248 (2016) ("the title of a statute or regulation and its placement within a group of statutes or regulations may provide some evidence of its meaning").

Although the preliminary language in the new Section 1 indicates that the Legislature intended the amendment to be construed broadly, it is not contained within a chapter of general application. Rather, it is included in three separate chapters, each of which applies only to one type of political subdivision. This placement shows that the amendments were meant to apply only to the three specific chapters in which the revised statutes are located. Significantly, the Legislature did *not* include the language in any of the chapters relating to other types of political subdivisions. Most importantly,

1	the language was not added to Chapter 379, which governs the Library
2	District.
3	c. The Statement of Legislative Purpose in Section 1 of NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222 Does Not Extend Their Application Beyond Counties, Cities
4	and Towns
5	Ms. Flores argues that the statement of legislative purpose contained in
6	Section 1 of NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222 must be read to prevent the
7	Library District from establishing rules related to the possession of firearms.
8	(Opening Br. 5:10-8:4, 9:3-10:2.) Essentially, Ms. Flores argues that the
9	Legislature's purpose of establishing "uniform" regulation of firearms
10	"throughout this State," its declaration that the regulation of firearms is
11	"within the exclusive domain of the legislature," and its instruction that the
12	relevant statutes be "liberally construed" requires the Court to ignore the plain
13	language of the statute's operative clauses. ( <i>Id.</i> ) Ms. Flores is wrong. First,
14	a legislative statement does not alter a statute's plain and unambiguous
15	language. Second, the statements of purpose are not necessarily inconsistent
16	with an intent to limit the application of NRS 244.364, 268.418, and 269.222
17	to counties, cities, and towns.
18	///

2	ambiguity in the operative clause," it "does not limit or expand the scope of
3	the operative clause." Dist. of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 577–78
4	(2008). See also Lowe v. Rowe, 294 P.3d 6, 10 (Wash. App. Ct. 2012)
5	("intent statements do not control over the express language of an otherwise
6	unambiguous statute"). Moreover, "where an unambiguous operative
7	statutory section conflicts with the purpose or policy section of a statute, the
8	operative section controls." State v. Rios, 237 P.3d 1052, 1061 (Ariz. Ct.
9	App. 2010) (quoting Cronin v. Sheldon, 991 P.2d 231, 238 (Ariz. 1999)).
10	Thus, "[t]he asserted purpose for enacting the legislation cannot modify its
11	plain meaning." Farmers Nat. Bank v. Green River Dairy, LLC, 318 P.3d
12	622, 625 (Idaho 2014). Ms. Flores does not contend that the statutes are
13	ambiguous; therefore, the Court must look to the substantive portion of the
14	statute to determine its effect. Naifeh v. Okla. Tax Comm'n, 400 P.3d 759,
15	768 (Okla 2017) ("In evaluating a measure's nurnose, we are careful not to

Although a statement of purpose might be used to "resolve an

elevate form over function. Thus, we look to "what the legislation actually

accomplishes . . . and not [to] what a legislature states it is accomplishing.").

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